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CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

1. MR. DEL GOBBO:  So, | would like fo
thank you, Mr. Hatherell, for coming in
foday. | understand that it is a busy fime
and | appreciate that you could find the
fime to make yourself available for
cross-examination. Before we get started,
just for purposes of the record, your
affidavit | will enter as an exhibit to
the transcript. This is the affidavit of
Mr. Hatherell, sworn on May 26th, 2014, on
which he is being cross-examined today.
MR. BURKE:  This is Exhibit 12

2. MR. DEL GOBBO: It is Exhibit 1.
- EXHIBITNO. 1 Affidavit of Terrence Hatherell,
sworn May 26, 2014
BY MR. DEL GOBBO:
3. Q. So, Mr. Hatherell, you understand
that your answers are binding on Deloitle LLP?
A Ido.
4, Q. And do you understand that you are

here to be cross-examined on your affidavit that you
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T. Hatherell - 5
swore in response to the application brought by my
client, the University of Toronto Graduate Students'
Union?

A ldo.

5. Q. And | will try fo refer to the
University of Toronto Graduate Students' Union,
because that is @ mouthful, as UTGSU or as GSU. But
at any fime you have any questions, just let me
know.

A Sure.

6. Q. So, as | understand it, you are a
pariner with Deloite LLP2

A lam.

/. Q. Can you tell me a little bit about
your background?

A. So,|am a chartered accountant,
chartered professional accountant, cerified in risk
management assurance. | have been with the firm...|
started in September of 1991. | lead our business
risk practice in Canada, and | serve as part of our
global internal audit leadership team representing
the Americas.

8. Q. Okay. And before you held your
current role, did you hold any other roles at
Deloitte?
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A, Idid. |was the leader of our
Toronto practice, our Toronto risk practice. | was
a director of operations, which is the senior most
individual within the risk practice in Toronto.

9. Q. Have you always worked at Deloitte,

or did you hold any positions before that?

A. | started with Arthur Andersen out
of school. In June 2002, Deloitte acquired Arthur
Andersen, and at that time, myself and the rest of
the Andersen firm joined Deloitte.

10. Q. Okay. Now, Mr. Hatherell, do you
have any legal training?
A ldonot.
1. Q. So, you are not a practising lowyer?
A lamnot.
12. Q. Now, before this matter, did you or

Deloitte LLP have any experience working for CFS or
CFSO?
A We did as a fim.
13. Q. Sorry, | don't mean to interrupt
you, but just to clarify for the sake of the record,
by "CFS" | am referring to the Canadian Federation
of Students, and "CFSO" | am referring to the
Canadian Federation of Students - Ontario,
rovincial component. Sorry, just so that is clear.

O OO NO~NOT BN —
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Q. Okay. So, | understand that you
were retained by CFS and CFSO to conduct a
verification of signatures on pefitions that were
received by them in the fall term 2013 with relation
to the UTGSU; is that correct?
A Yes
Q. So, you explain in your affidavit
that you and your colleague, Mr. Yasser Youssef,
were both retained to work on this matter, and he is
a senior manager for Deloifte?
MR. BURKE:  You have to answer yes or
no. You can't nod your head.
THE DEPONENT: | was waiting for him fo
finish the question.
MR. BURKE: I see.
MR. DEL GOBBO:  Thank you, Mr. Burke.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:
21.

Q. Ishould have made that clear at the
outset, that, just o have a clear transcript, we
need to have yes or no answers, or any additional
information that you would like to provide in
response fo all the questions.

A Yes. So, Deloitte LLP was refained
by the Federation, both federal and Ontario. | am

OO ~NONOT BN —
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A Okay. My understanding is that we
served as the financial statement auditors for the
national organization of the Canadian Federation of
Students.
14, Q. And when was that?
A. My understanding is it ceased in the
mid 2000s, so around 2006 is when we stopped serving
as the financial statement auditors for the federal
organization.
15. Q. And in that capacity, you audited
the financial statements of CFS, as you said. Did
you have any experience with the CFS by-laws in that
capacity?
A. l'am not aware of experience. | am
not sure, one way or the other.
16. Q. o, prior fo this matter then, you
didn't have any prior experience with the CFS or
CFSO by-laws?
A.  So, me personally myself, no, | had
no involvement with the Federation or the by-laws.
17. Q. o, is it fair fo say that your
current understanding of the CFS and CFSO by-laws is
based on information that CFS and CFSO provided to
you as part of its mandate?
A Corred.
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the responsible partner responsible for the work
that was performed. Yasser Youssef was the key
resource executing the procedures.

Q. So, by 'key resource'...| believe he
is a senior manager, that is his fitle?

A Yes.

Q. And what are his responsibilifies as
senior manager? You mentioned also he is the key
resource who was executing the file. Can you just
explain what that means in terms of execution of the
mandate?

A, Sure. So, his responsibility would
be overseeing all the activities that were
performed, whether they were performed by other
individuals. He also, in this case, performed the
procedures in ferms of the validation procedures.

Q. Okay. And how long has Mr. Youssef
been at Deloitte?

A. He has been with the firm...he has
thirteen years of professional experience between
Deloitte and PricewaterhouseCoopers. | believe...my
understanding is ten of those years are with
Deloitte.

Q. Does Mr. Youssef have any legal
fraining?
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A. He does not, not fo my
understanding.

Q. So, he is not a practising lawyer
either?

A. Not to my understanding, no.

Q. Do you know if before this matter if
Mr. Youssef had any experience working for CFS or
CFS0?

A. My understanding is that he did not.

Q.  Okay. So, your understanding is
that he didn' have any fomiliarity or knowledge or
experience with the CFS and CFSO by-laws either?

A. That is my understanding.

Q. So, similarly, his understanding of
the by-laws would have been predicated on the
information provided to him by CFS and CFSO?

A Yes.

Q.  Okay. So, if we could just tum to
paragraph 3 of your affidavit. So, you explain in
this paragraph that you and Mr. Youssef met with
Ms. Hunt, that is Ms. Vanessa Hunt of CFS, and
Mr. Ashkan Hashemi of CFSO, and Jeremy Salter on
behalf of CFSO, as part of an interview process on
January 20th, 2014; is that right?

A, Correct.
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Q.  There were subsequent discussions.
Okay. By "discussions you mean in-person meetings
or e-mail communications?

A. My recollection is conference calls.

Q. Okay. |see you are discussing, for
example, at paragraph 10 of your affidavit a
conference call that took place...or rather that o
conference call was proposed on January 21st, 2014,
by Mr. Youssef?

A Correct.

Q. So, if we could just turn to
Exhibit A of your affidavit for a moment. So, this
is an e-mail from Mr. Youssef fo CFS and CFSO, dated
January 21st, 2014, ot 10:20 a.m., and you were
copied on this; is that right?

Yes.

Q. Now, you can take my word for it but
| looked this up earlier and your counsel will
correct me if | am wrong, but January 21st, 2014 was
a Tuesday. And the reason that | say that is
because in the second paragraph, Mr. Youssef
mentions:

"...We are available on Wednesday between
2:0010 4:00 p.m..."
Do you see that?

OO ~NONOT BN —
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Q. And this inferview was conducted
jointly by CFS and CFSO?

A. That is my recollection, yes.

Q. Was Ms. Lucy Watson of CFS present
during this inferview?

A. I don't recall, to be honest with
you. | don't recall.

Q. Okay. Before this litigation
commenced, had you met with Ms. Watson on behalf of
CFS personally?

A. I'am somry, can you repeat the
question?

Q. Before this litigation commenced,
had you or anyone at Deloitte met with Ms. Watson in
person...

A. I don't believe that we had.

Q. Had you had any communication with

her regarding Deloifte's retainer?
A, My recollection is no.

Q. So, you mentioned the interview on
January 20th. Was there only one interview with CFS
or CFSO, or were there subsequent meetings before
the refainer was finalized?

A, My recollection is there were
subsequent discussions.

NO OO NONO1T O —
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A ldo.

Q. So, that would be January 22nd, is

the Wednesday referred fo in that paragraph?
A Yes.

Q. So, this is the same follow-up
conversation...conference call that you just
described, and it is also in paragraph 11 of your
offidavi.

MR. BURKE:  What are you suggesting was

referred fo in paragraph 112

MR. DEL GOBBO: ~ Well, at paragraph 11,

Mr. Hatherell states that he followed up on

January 22nd, 2014. | am asking whether

that follow-up was the conference call that

was being discussed at Exhibit A as having
faken place on Wednesday, January 22nd.

MR. BURKE:  That Mr. Youssef followed

up?

MR. DEL GOBBO:  Yes, rather that Mr.

Youssef followed up.

MR. BURKE:  You suggested Mr. Hatherell

had followed up.

MR. DEL GOBBO: My apologies.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:
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Q. But, yes, that Mr. Youssef followed
up on that day.
A.  That would appear o be the case.
That would be consistent with my understanding.
Q. Okay. Did you participate on this
call?
A. | don't recall whether | did.
Q. So, you sfate in paragraph 11 that:
"...Mr. Youssef advised Ms. Hunt and
Mr. Hashemi that Deloitte would be in a
position to provide a proposal to them once
conflict searches were cleared..."
Do you see that?
A Yes.
Q. Were there any issues discussed on
this call, apart from conflict searches?
A. What do you mean by issues'?
Q. Any matters, any fopics discussed,
apart from conflict searches.
A. I don't recall anything
specifically. We would have had a general
discussion with respect to the work that we could
perform. So, there would have been other matters
that |\rould have been discussed, but | don't
recall..
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legal advice as fo the interpretation of the CFS or
CFSO by-laws?

A No, we did not.

Q. Okay. So, just to make the point
clear for my understanding is that Deloitte didn't
have the benefit of any legal advice as to the
interpretation of the requirements for a valid
petition under the by-lows when it conducted its
review?

A Corredt.

Q. Okay. So, as | understand the
chronology you put forward in your affidavit, if you
look at paragraph 12, | understand the next event is
that Deloitte sent a proposal to CFS and CFSO
regarding the petition validation on January 315t

A Corredt.

Q. Now, this was a joint proposal that
Deloitte was sending to both CFS and CFSO?

A Corredt.

Q. And | believe that you attach this
proposal at Exhibit B to your affidavit, and there
are some covering e-mails, but the proposal itself
begins on the fourth page of the exhibit; is that
correct?

A, Corredt.

al.
52.
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Q. You don' recall any specifics?

A ...any specifics.

Q. So, during this call or during your
initial interview, did CFS and CFSO explain to
Deloitte that part of Deloitte's task would be the
evaluation of the signatures on the pefitions in
light of the by-laws?

A, What was discussed with Deloitte
were the by-laws that were relevant, and what we
responded with are the procedures that we were able
fo perform fo establish the integrity of the
petition, which are the procedures that were
outlined in our proposal and our engagement letter.

Q. Okay. So, you mentioned that what
was discussed were the by-laws that were relevant.
So, those were by-laws that CFS and CFSO told you
were relevant?

A, They provided us with the by-laws,
and highlighted the relevant by-lows that we were
performing our procedures in response to.

Q. Did CFS or CFSO provide you with a
legal opinion as to the correct interpretation of
the by-laws?

A. No, they did not.

Q. Did Deloitte obtain any independent

NO OO NONO1T O —
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Q. So, could you just turn to the
second page of the proposal itself, and the title
"Our Understanding of Your Needs'.
A Okay.
Q. So, here you describe in the second
bullet, | believe, what you understand the mandate
of CFSto be...
A Correct.
Q. ..isthat fair? And this
information was provided fo you by CF$2
A. I don't recall whether the
information was provided by CFS. If it were not
provided by CFS, we would have likely obtained from
publicly available information, such as the website.
Q. So, the next three bullets, you can
review them...you can read them now if you would
like. My only question, as you are reading, is
whether it is fair to say that this represents a
summary of what the CFS and CFSO asked Deloitte to
do with respect to the pefitions.
A. That would be accurate in terms of
our understanding of what they were requesfing at
that point in fime.
Q. Okay. Now, in the fourth bullet,
ou have outlined procedures that Deloitte
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understood that they were o do for CFS and CFSO to
assess the validity and integrity of the pefitions;
is that right?

A, Yes, at that point in time.

Q. And | believe these procedures were
also summarized at paragraph 13 of your offidavit,
is that right, subparagraphs () through (f)2

A Yes. | am just reading. The
procedures that are arficulated in paragraph (f
correspond...they are not identical o what is laid
out in the proposal, but they do relate to that in
ferms of the procedures that we would undertake,
correct.

Q. And these are procedures that CFS
and CFSO asked you to undertake?

A. They are procedures that we agreed
with CFS and CFSO that we would undertake.

Q.  And the genesis of these procedures,
was that with Deloitte or was that with CFS and
CFSO?

A, The genesis of these procedures
would be with Deloitte.
Q. With Deloitte?
A Yes.
Q. Meaning that...

O OO NO~NOT BN —
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Q. And this was beginning from the date
that Deloitte received the petitions and the student
list from the University of Toronto?
A Correct.
Q.  Did you communicate this estimated
fimeline fo CFS and CFSO?
A. My understanding or recollection is
that it would have been included...it was included
in the proposal and would have been communicated
through the engagement letter. | believe we did
reference it as well in the engagement letter.
Q.  Okay. Thank you. So, if we could
just turn to Exhibit E of your affidavit now. This
is an e-mail from Mr. Hashemi of CFSO, attaching an
executed copy of CFSO's engagement letter. |
believe we were just speaking about the engagement
letters. Now, before we get fo the letter itself, |
would just like to look at the cover e-mail. So,
Mr. Hashemi states in the first paragraph that:
"...[He has] prepared the CFSO and CFS
by-laws and will be couriering them to
you this morning..."
S0, "this moming'...and this e-mail is dated
February 19th, 2014; is that fair?
A, Yes. So, can you tell me whot

OO ~NONOT BN —
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A, We created these procedures.

Q.  Okay. Did you create them in
consultation with CFS and CFSO?

A, We were the ones that created these
procedures in response to what we understood CFS and
CFSO were trying fo achieve. We submitted these
procedures as part of our draft engagement letter
for the review of CFS and CFSO, but we were the ones
that created these procedures.

Q. And in the draft engagement lefter,

CFS and CFSO ultimately agreed o implement these
procedures?

A, They did agree by signing the
engagement lefter that we were authorized to perform
these procedures, yes.

Q. And presumably, by accepting your
proposal that we just looked at ot Exhibit B, they
agreed with...they liked the proposal that they saw,
for which reason they retained Deloitte?

A Yes.

Q. Okay. So, if we just look f,
sorry, the first sentence in your paragraph 13, you
estimated that your review would be a full-week
process; is that right?

Yes.

NO OO NONO1T O —
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exactly was provided by CFS and CFSO 1o Deloitte as
the materials that they would use as the basis for
their review?

Q. My recollection of what was provided
were the by-lows with...my recollection of what was
provided were the by-laws.

A And was that the full fext of the
by-laws or was that a summary of the by-laws?

Q. Itwas the full text of the by-laws.

A. Both CFS and CFSO?

Q. I don' recall whether both were
provided...whether each were provided. | can
certainly undertake fo let you know.

A. Could you undertake to confirm that?

MR. BURKE:  Yes, we will. um

THE DEPONENT:  Todd, will you...yes.

MR. DEL GOBBO:  Thank you. Could | also

ask just for the broader undertaking, just

fo confirm all the materials that were

provided to Deloitte during the course

of the refainer as reference materials as

the basis of the reports?

MR. BURKE:  And materials provided by...
MR. DEL GOBBO: ~ CFS and CFSO.
MR. BURKE: | will take it under
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advisement. U/A

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

82.

Q. Could you look at the lost paragraph
of this e-mail at Exhibit E2 It states that:
"...Mr. Hashemi will be preparing a brief
summary of the applicable by-laws and will
send that your way [meaning fo Mr.
Youssef's way] later this afternoon...'
ls that fair?

MR. BURKE: It says what it says.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

83.

84.

Q. Alright. | take that fo be a yes.
So, if you could just flip to Exhibit F for @ moment
then, and there is an e-mail here from Mr. Hashemi.
Itis dated the same date as his previous e-mail at
Exhibit E, February 19th, 2014. Now, is this the
summary that Mr. Hashemi is referring fo in
Exhibit E that he would send to Deloitie?
A, Itappears to be the summary, but |

am not aware as fo whether a separate summary was
sentfo us. | don't know. | can certainly...

Q. Could you undertake o...
A, ..undertake to...

T. Hatherell - 24

] that he provides what he states are applicable

2 sections of the by-laws. Now, we can pull up the

3 CFS and CFSO by-laws if you would like. My only

4 question is whether you would agree that the wording
5 of this e-mail is not the exact wording of the

6 by-laws, but rather represents a paraphrasing. For

7 example, if you look at the first CFS/CFSO by-law...
8 MR. BURKE: ~ Well, Counsel, won't a

9 comparison of the two become self-evident

10 in that regard? | don't think that is

1 necessary for this witness fo take time to

12 go back and to compare the two, which he

13 would be required to do for the purposes of
14 answering your question. We are all

15 capable of reading.

16 90. MR. DEL GOBBO:  You are probably right.
17

18 BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

19 91 Q. Okay. Mr. Hatherell, did Deloitie

20 rely on Mr. Hashemi's summary in this e-mail in

21 Exhibit F when conducting his review?

22 A We included the by-law that we were

23 assessing against in our...my recollection is in our
24 engagement lefter. And so, we relied on information

ed to us by CFS and CFSO with respect to the

rovid
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Q.  That might be part of a previous
undertaking, but...

MR. BURKE: ~ We wil give the...if he
asks for an undertaking, | give the
undertaking. You don't have fo offer
an undertaking.

MR. DEL GOBBO:  Not that | mind him
offering.
MR. BURKE: | am sure you dont. So,
the question is, is there any additional
summary that might have been provided by
Mr. Hashemi?

MR. DEL GOBBO:  Any additional summary
of the CFS and CFSO by-laws that would have
been provided by Mr. Hashemi to Deloifte.

MR. BURKE: I can give that undertaking
on behalf of CFS. My friend here
represents CFSO. um

MR. DEL GOBBO:  All right. So, |

suppose | will ask that tomorrow.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:
89.

Q. Okay. Ifwe could just look at this
e-mail again that is behind Exhibit F, February
19th, 2014, e-mail from Mr. Hashemi. You wil see

T. Hatherell - 25

] by-laws in terms of defermining the procedures we
2 would perform for them.

3 9% Q. Did you specifically rely on this

4 summary in this e-mail in draffing your reports fo
5 CFS and CFSO?

6 A. I don' recall.

7 9. Q. lonly say so because if we look at

8 the reports themselves...if you can pull up the CFS
9 national report behind Exhibit O of your affidavit.
10 If you tum to the second page of that exhibit, page
1 1 of the report in the bottom right. If you just

12 look at the heading "Background", and below you
13 summarize what you defermine to be the relevant CFS
14 by-laws; is that fair?

15 A Correct.

16 94, Q. So, if we look at the first heading
17 'General', and here...| will read it just for the

18 record:

19 "...CFS by-law 1 dealing with membership
20 issues, including the process for

21 certifying and decertifying, specifically

22 CFS by-law 1, section 6, which outlines the
23 requirements to inifiate a vote under

24 certification..."

So, you will agree that is a summary of CFS by-law
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1, and then section 6 in the second sentence?
A, Yes, that is what it appears to be.
Q. So, if you could flip back to
Exhibit F, please, and Mr. Hashemi's e-mail under
the same heading "General’, do you see that?
A Yes.
Q. So, I will read the wording for the
record:
"...CFS by-low 1 and CFS by-law 2 deal with
membership issues, including the process
11 for cerfifying and decertifying.
Specifically, CFS by-law 1, section 6 and

95.

96.

O 0O ~NO~NOT B~ —

13 CFSO by-law 2, section 5 outline the

14 requirements fo inifiate a vofe under

15 certification..."

16 Do you see that?

17 A ldo.

18 97. Q. So, you will agree with me that the

19 wording is, say for the references to the CFSO

20 by-laws and Mr. Hashemi's e-mail, identical between

2] this e-mail and the CFS report?
A. The wording is similar.
98. Q. lamsony, | don't quite
understand. If you remove the references fo the
CFSO by-laws in Mr. Hashemi's e-mail and you just

T. Hatherell - 28

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

103.

108.

Q. And if you look back at Mr.
Hashemi's e-mail at Exhibit F under the same heading
"Petitioner requirements, notwithstanding the
reference to the CFSO by-law and any verb tense
issues, would you agree that the wording is
substantially similar¢

A Yes.

Q. And just for completeness, | will
ask you to look at the third bullet in the CFS
report under the heading "20 percent threshold", the
first page at the bottom right of the CFS report.

If you could read that bullet, and | will ask you
the same question with respect fo Exhibit F,
Mr. Hashemil's e-mail of February 19th, 2014, under
the heading "20 percent threshold". And will you
agree that the wording there is substantially
similar to the CFS report?

A Yes.

Q. Thankyou. Al right. If we could

just return fo Exhibit E of your affidavit. We

looked ot this briefly earlier. This is the CFSO
engagement lefter with a covering e-mail. So, if we
look at the engagement letter itself, this is on the
second page of the exhibit, you can just see the

T. Hatherell - 27

] include the references to the CFS by-laws, is the
2 wording not identical?

3 MR. BURKE:  No, it is not, because if

4 you look at CFS by-law 1, it says:

5 "...deal with membership issues..."

6 And under 'General' it says:

7 "...dealing with membership issues..."

8 So, therefore, they are similar and not

9 identical.

10 99, MR. DEL GOBBO:  You are right, |

11 apologize for missing the verb fense issue.
12

13 BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

14 100. Q. Butyou will agree with me that they
15 are substantially similar?

16 A Yes.

17 101 Q. Okay. Ifwe could just look at the
18 next section of the CFS report at Exhibit O under
19 "Peition requirements", if you could read that
20 bullet, please.

2] MR. BURKE:

"Petitioner requirements"?

22 102, MR. DEL GOBBO:  "Petifioner
23 requirements".
24 MR. BURKE:  VYes.

THE DEPONENT:  Okay.

NO OO NONOT O —
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first heading there "Nature and scope of services'.
A Yes.
MR. BURKE:  So, this is the letter dated
February 18th, 20142
hMR. DEL GOBBO:  Yes. Thank you for
that.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

107.

108.

109.

Q. And this is the executed engagement
letter of CFSO. So, you will see that, under this
heading "Nature and scope of services", there is a
list of procedures here. And | won't ask you fo
pull up the exact document, but | think you will
agree that these procedures are similar to the
procedures that were contained in Deloitte's
proposal that we looked at earlier?

A, Yes, they do appear o be similar.

Q. Okay. And | believe that you said
earlier that CFSO agreed with the procedures that
Deloitte developed in the proposal?

A, Yes, that is my understanding.

Q. So, CFSO agreed with...lef’s just
take an example. If we look, for example, at the
fifth bullet in this lst:

" . Verification on a sample basis of
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participation in a petition by members of
the University of Toronto Graduate
Students' Union..."
S0, CFSO would have agreed with that procedure?
A Correct.

Q. Okay. Could we turn fo the third
page of the engagement lefter, page 3 of 9 at the
fop¢ This s still Exhibit E. If you could just
read the first paragraph, it pertains to additional
services that Deloitte may be engaged o perform.

MR. CARSTEN:  Sorry, Counsel, what page

are you on?
MR. DEL GOBBO:  Page 3 of 9 of the CFSO
engagement letfer.
MR. BURKE: It the paragraph at the
fop of the page.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

112.

113.

Q. Yes, the paragraph at the fop.
A Yes, | have read it.

Q. Now, leaving aside for a moment...|
know that Deloitte was asked with respect to the CFS
petition to undertake a secondary review in April.
| am not asking you about that right now. | would
just like o know that, in respect of this
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agreements...CFSO?
A, That is correct.

Q. Okay. So, tuming back fo the
engagement lefter, so the CFSO engagement letter at
Exhibit E, the second paragraph on page 3, under the
heading "CFSON responsibilities”. o, this
paragraph states that CFS will be responsible for
contacting the University of Toronto and arranging
for it to provide Deloitte the relevant student
records that Deloitte needed to conduct its review;
is that fair?

A Yes.

Q. And loter it says that:

"...Deloitte will not be responsible for
obtaining any required student or
university approvals related fo the
provision of those records...

A Corredt.

Q.  And | believe the same paragraph
appears in the CFS engagement letter, but | won't
ask you to pull it up. 1 think | could ask the
question in a general...so, | take it that Deloitte
then...apart from the context of contacting the
university fo obtain the letter, the student
records, which | believe was done in respect of the
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paragraph, whether Deloitte was engaged on behalf of
CFS or CFSO to undertake any additional services,
apart from what you have spoken fo in your
affidavit,

A, My recollection is that we were not.

Q. So, the only services that Deloitte
performed for CFS and CFSO...again, leaving aside
that secondary review...would be as prescribed in
the engagement letters?

A, Would be as related to what s
outlined in the engagement lefter, yes.

Q.  And that is the engagement letter
for CFS and CFSO?

A Correct.

Q.  Okay. So, relatedly, | fake it that
Deloitte has entered info no other agreements with
CFS or CFSO, apart from the engagement letters and
that secondary review, that we will discuss later,
in respect of this matter?

A. | can' speak for Deloitte in its
entirefy. | can speak for myself. | have not
entered info any additional engagements or services.

Q. To your knowledge, you or Mr.
Youssef, no one that you supervise or have any
experience with ot Deloitte have entered info an
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CFS and CFSO petitions, Deloitte didn't speak with
the university in any way as part of this...
A. | can confirm fo you that no one on
the engagement spoke with the university about any
matters, other than obtaining the records.
Q. Deloitte had no relationship with
the university, for example?
MR. BURKE: ~ Well, that is a broad
question, and Deloitte s a large
organization. But in the context of this
engagement, you can ask that question.
MR. DEL GOBBO:  That is a good point.
THE DEPONENT:  Can you restate the
question?

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

123.

124.

Q. Sure. So, in the context of this
engagement, apart from, as you said, reaching out to
the university to obtain the requisite student
records, Deloitte doesn't have a relationship with
the University of Toronto?

A. Inthe context of this engagement
and the work that we were requested to perform, that
is correct.

Q.

So, if we just confinue, about
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] halfway down this page 3, under the heading ] court in any way.

2 "Professional fees and fiming", do you see that? 2 131 MR. DELGOBBO: ~ Well, you know, we may
3 A Yes, | do. 3 be of a different view about that. |

4 125 Q. So, here Deloitte estimates that the 4 frankly didn't think it was very

5 fotal professional fees to carry out the procedures 5 controversial.

6 for both CFS and CFSO are between $11,500 and 6 MR. BURKE: | don't think it is

7 $14,000; is that fair? 7 controversial.

8 A Yes. 8§ 132 MR. DEL GOBBO:  The only reason that |
9 126 Q. So, what accounts for the range of 9 ay...

10 those amounts? 10 MR. BURKE: ~ Let me just finish. | don't

11 A, When we esfimated the work required, 1 think it is confroversial. | just think it

12 we weren't sure exactly how long it was going to 12 is creafing unnecessary work and expense in
13 fake to conduct the procedures, and so, we typically 13 this litigation.

14 fry to provide a range of fees fo estimate the level 14 133 MR. DEL GOBBO:  Somry, | thought that
15 of work required. 15 just producing the fotal amount of fees

16 127 Q. Okay. You mentioned that you 16 wouldn't be very fime consuming. The only
17 weren't sure exactly how long it would take, but you 17 reason that | ask it again is because there

18 had communicated fo CFS and CFSO, | believe we 18 was some discussion between UTGSU and CFS
19 discussed earlier, that the work would take 19 and CFSO about what portion UTGSU, if any,
20 approximately four weeks? 20 would be responsible for.

21 A Yes, that is correct. | am 21 MR. BURKE:  Refusal on the basis of

2 referring to the number of hours. 2 relevance. R

23 128 Q. So, my understanding that...the 23

24 intial validation exercise by which the reports 24 BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

25 were issued to CFS and CFSO...again, leaving aside 134, Q. If we look back at this paragraph

T. Hatherell - 35 T. Hatherell - 37

1 the secondary review of the CFS petition...cosfs 1 under the heading "Professional fees and timing', at
2 $11,000; is that right? And if | am wrong, please 2 the second sentence.

3 correct me. | would just like to know the fofal 3 A Yes.

4 amount of money that was ultimately paid. 4 135 Q. "..We understand that our fees will

5 A. That sounds directionally correct. 5 be shared equally between CFS Ontario and
6 | don't recall the exact amount of the fees, to be 6 CFS National..."

7 honest with you, but it was...they were in line, 7 Do you see that?

8 directionally in line with the fees included in the 8 A Yes.

9 engagement lefter. 9 136 Q. Was this payment arrangement

10 129. Q. Okay. Can you provide an 10 communicated to you by CFSO and CFS?

11 undertaking to provide the total amount of fees that 1 A. My understanding is that we were

12 Deloitte... 12 made aware that the costs would be shared between
13 MR. BURKE: ~ What furns on that, Mr. Del 13 CFS and CFSO, which is why we included it in the
14 Gobbo? 14 engagement letter,

15 130. MR. DEL GOBBO: ~ Well, | mean there is 15 137 Q. And who made you aware of that?
16 some discussion in the affidavits as to 16 A. I don't recall who specifically made

17 responsibility for those fees, who would 17 us aware of it. It would have been a representative
18 pay what portions of the fees. 18 from CFS or CFSO.

19 MR. BURKE: ~ But we are not here talking 19 138 Q. Okay. And this would have been
20 about a cost allocation, we are talking 20 during the negofiation of this engagement lefter,
21 about...as | understand your application, 21 the initial stages of a retainer?

22 ifs about the verification. So, | just 22 A, Thatis correct.

23 don't...it seems unnecessary to get info, 23139 Q. Did CFS or CFSO ever inform you
24 you know, creating undertakings that have 24 around this period that any amount of the funds to
25 no bearing and are not going fo assist the 25 ay Deloitte's retainer might actually come from
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another source, not CFS or CFSO?
A. No, they did not.

140. Q.  Okay. So, if we just look at the
second paragraph under that heading "Professional
fees and timing', again on the third page. Now, |
am sorry, | am having some trouble understanding the
first sentence of this paragraph. It states:

"...We have assumed that the petition

submitted fo CFSO and CFS National are
consistent, o be confirmed through

validation procedures, and therefore data

entry of pefition information into an

analytics readable format, i.e., Excel, and

petifion validation procedures outlined in

this agreement are assumed to occur only

once for both CFSO and CFS Nationl..."
S}?' | am sorry, | don't know what you mean by saying
that:

"...the pefition submitied to CFSO and CFS

National are consistent...

What do you mean by that?

A. Our assumption ot that point in fime
is that if someone signed the national pefition,
that their name and signature, et cefera, would be

included on the Ontario pefition. So, our going-in
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of the petitions, ever page of the pefitions that
you had received?

A, The exact procedures that were
undertaken, we needed to ensure that the names that
were on the petitions were included in the Excel
files. What | don't recall at this point in time is
whether, if a name was included on one of the
petitions and we saw it on the other peition,
whether we actually manually retyped it or whether
we simply did a copy-and-paste into the other sheet.

But our procedures were designed to ensure that we
had the fullness of the names for each of the
petitions included in Excel.

Q. Okay. Ifwe look at the last

Q. ...and this is related fo the
fimeline again that you communicated fo CFS and
CFSO. You state here that:
"...[You] anticipate completion of all
activities within three to four weeks of
commencement of this project, and delivery
of relevant records..."
Did you communicate this timeline equally to CFSO

OO ~NONOT BN —

_
— o

12
13
14

T. Hatherell - 39
assumption was that we would simply need to input
into Excel the names once, but our procedures were
designed to assess whether there were, in fact,
differences between the two petitions.

141. Q. Okay. And | will ask you a few more
questions about the procedures that you took fo
implement the signatures into Excel later. But is
it fair fo say in this case that, upon your review
of the petitions, that that was not done, and that,
in fact, the names had to be entered separately for
the CFS and CFSO petitions?

A, ltis fair to sy that there was a
fair amount of additional work required fo ensure
that we had all of the names for each of the
petitions input info Excel.

142. Q. lamsorry, | am still not
understanding. So, when you input the names info
Excel that run the petitions, was this done
manually?

A Yes.

143. Q.  So, literally, someone behind a
computer manually typing in every word or number on
a petition info Excel?

A Yes.

144, Q.  And this was done manually for both
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and CFS?
A My recollection is, yes, | believe
it was...that timeline was included in each of the
engagement lefters, is my recollection. And |
believe it would have also been discussed verbally
with them during discussions.

Q. When you communicated this timeline
to CFS and CFSO, did anyone from those organizations
mention to you that there was discussion that a

referendum might occur beginning on March 24th,
20142

A. I dont recall whether we discussed
that specifically. What | do recall is that there
were fime pressures...we were under fime pressure.
It was communicated fo us clearly the sense of
urgency. And | believe one of the petitions
actually referenced the referendum occurring on
March 24th. So, we were clearly aware that there
were fime pressures and that's what needed fo occur
as quickly as possible.

Okay. Were you aware that there was
discussion that a campaigning period might begin on
March 10th, 20142

A, My recollection is that we were not
aware.
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Q. Okay. Ifyou look back to this
paragraph where we were discussing the timeling, you
state that:
"...[You] anticipate completion of all key
activities within three to four weeks..."
Do you see that?
A Yes.
Q. I'would just like to know what you
mean by the word "key". Were there any non-key
acfivities, for lack of a better word, that were
completed affer this three- to four-week period?
A, Interms of the fimelines of the
actual work that we had performed, there may well
have been key activities that were performed after
the three- to four-week fimeline. | just simply
don't recall how long it fook to execute the
procedures. This was our estimate at the time we
were engaged. But for all infents and purposes, the
words "key activifies' were the principal activities
that were important as it relates to the execution
of our work and ultimately the delivery of our
report.
Q. Sure. And this is an esfimate, as
you said. So, these estimates, it might have been
less time than three fo four weeks, it might have
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21...sory, just before we get there, lef's just
move briefly fo paragraph 16 of your affidavit, just
to state briefly that Deloitte's engagement letters,
you say, were finalized by February 18th, and they
were sent to CFS and CFSO on that date.
A Correct.

Q. So, CFS received Deloitte’s draft

engagement lefter on that day?

A The letters that were sent to them
on that date were...my understanding, is signed
copies by Deloitte.

Q. Yes.

A.  Deloitte signed copies, as opposed
o draft engagement letter...
Q. That CFS and CFSO had...
A ..executed them, correct.

Q. Okay. Now, | am sorry, if we
proceed to paragraph 21 of your affidavit. So, this
is, you describe, two days later on February 20th,
2014. | understand that Ms. Hunt at the Canadian
Federation of Students' sent your colleague, Mr.
Youssef, an e-mail with a revised portion of the CFS
engagement letter, and you have attached that
revised portion at Exhibit H o your affidavit, so

ou can feel free fo bring it...and if you fun fo
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been more time than three fo four weeks...
A, Thatis correct.

Q. ..isthat fair? And sorry, you
mentioned that there might very well have been key
activifies after this period. Do you recall
specifically whether there were any key activities?

A. I don't recall specifically the
fimelines in terms of...off the top of a head, in
ferms of when we actually executed the procedures
and ultimately issued our deliverable relative to
the date that this was executed.

Q. Okay. Perhaps | will ask a more
fargeted question. Again, leaving aside the issue
of the secondary review of the CFS petition, were
there any veritication procedures that Deloitte
undertook after the delivery of the Deloitte reports
in respect of the CFS or CFSO petifions?

A. | don't believe that there were, no.

Q. Okay. So, up until this point, we
have been looking at the CFSO engagement lefter, and
| think you would agree, and | will pull it up
shorlly, but the CFSO engagement lefter is
substantially similar to the CFS letter, is it not?

A Yes.
Q. Now, in your affidavit at paragraph
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the second page of that exhibit, you will see that
there appears o be a blackline copy of one of the
pages of the Deloitte engagement lefter...

. VYes.

Q. ...showing the changes that CFS was
proposing; is that fair?

. VYes.

Q. Okay. So, you state in paragraph 21
of your affidavit that:

"...Ms. Hunf's revisions served only to

more accurately reflect that only the

national executive of the CFS has the

authority to determine whether a pefition

is in order..."

So, sorry, | am just frying to understand this. By
this do you mean to say that the previous version of
the engagement letter reflected that someone else,
other than the national executive, had the authority
to determine whether the petition was in order?

A What | am representing with the
offidavit is that the engagement letter as we had
sent over to Ms. Hunt did not accurately reflect, in
Ms. Hunt's view, the responsibilities of the
Federation.

Q. Okay. So, really, the second
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sentence of this paragraph is Ms. Hun's view that
the engagement letter didn't accurately reflect the
national executive of the CFS...

A That...

163. Q. ..that only the national executive
had the authority to determine whether a pefition is
in order?

A. That is my understanding, yes.

164, Q. Okay. Thank you. Did Ms. Hunt
explain fo you in her view what it was about the
previous version that didn't accurately reflect that
only national executive had the authority to
determine whether a pefition s in order?

A.  She did not specifically discuss
with me. | am not aware as to whether she discussed
with anyone on our team, including Mr. Youssef.

165. h Q. Okay. And you state in paragraph 21
that:

"...These revisions to the engagement
letter did not change the scope of the work
requested by Deloifte..."

A, That s correct.

166. Q. So, notwithstanding these revisions
o the engagement lefter then, the work that

Deloitte did for CFS and CFSO, that the scope of
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revisions. But if you don't know that for sure,
that is fine.
MR. BURKE: ~ Your point being that the
revised letter has been sent a day

following?

MR. DEL GOBBO:  Yes, whether you
could...
MR. BURKE:  So that that looks logical

in terms of the timeling?
MR. DEL GOBBO:  Yes.
MR. BURKE: ~ All right. Is there
anything that turns on that, though?
MR. DEL GOBBO:  No. | am just trying to
figure out the timeline.
MR. BURKE: | would...itis as it is
dated, so...if nothing turns on it, then
move on.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:
174.

Q. So, if you look at paragraph 25 of
your affidavit for a moment, you state that:
"...On February 26th, the CFS provided
Deloitte with a signed engagement
letter..."
Do you see that?
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work was the same?
A Corredt.

167. Q. Okay. So, asigned copy of the
engagement letter of CFS is found behind Exhibit K
of your affidavit, if you can pull that up. There
is a covering e-mail from Ms. Hunt, sent on February
26th, 2014, and beneath it is the executed
engagement lefter,

A Yes.
168. Q. So, | see that the letter is dated
February 21st, 2014. Do you see that?
A Yes.
169. Q. s this when the letter was sent fo

CFS after inputting Ms. Hunt's suggested changes?
A. | don't recall whether that was the
actual date that it was sent. It would not be
unusual, where changes were made fo an engagement
letter as part of the finalization process, that we
would not update the date of the lefter.
170. Q. Okay. lonly say so because we just
discussed at paragraph 21 of your affidavit that
Ms. Hunt suggested revisions on February 20th. So,
if we look at the version of the letter that is
behind Exhibit K, it is dated February 21st, and you
will notice that it implements her suggested
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A Yes.

Q. And that is the engagement letter we

were looking at behind Exhibit K2
A Yes.

Q. And you will notice in the last page
that it is signed, and Ms. Hunt has dated it
February 26th as the date of signature?

A Yes.

Q. So, you state, sorry, in paragraph
25 of your affidavit that:

"...This was signed after various edits and

revisions to the engagement letter..."
Were there any additional edits o revisions to the
letter, apart from what we just discussed, behind
Exhibit H, Ms. Hunt's blacklined portion of the
letter?

A. I don't recall specifically.

Q. Okay. Were there any discussions
between Deloitte and CFS regarding the engagement
letter between when her revisions were received on
February 20th and when the letter was signed on
February 26th

A. I don't recall that | was involved
in any discussions. That is fo the best of my
knowledge. There were not any discussions. What |
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am not sure about is whether Mr. Youssef had any
discussions with them. | am not aware.

Q. Could you provide an undertaking to
check your correspondence to see if there was any
discussion between Deloitte and CFS regarding the
engagement letter between those dates, February 20th
and 26th?

MR. BURKE:  So | understand your
question, check my correspondence to
defermine...

MR. DEL GOBBO: ~ Check to see if there is
any correspondence between CFS and
Deloitte.

MR. BURKE:  So, you are looking for

correspondence...

MR. DEL GOBBO: ~ Whether was any
correspondence, yes.
MR. BURKE: ...around the engagement

letter between the 21st and the 26th?
MR. DEL GOBBO:  Yes.
MR. BURKE: ~ We will give that
undertaking...in relation to the CFS only?
MR. DEL GOBBO:  Yes.
Okay. um

MR. BURKE:

O OO NO~NOT BN —

186.

187.

188.

189.

T. Hatherell - 52
describe that you considered randomly selecting a
sample group of 100 students to ask whether they had
parficipated in the petitions; is that fair?
Yes.

Q. So, you say "we" in this first
sentence. By "we" do you mean Deloitte or do you
mean...what do you mean by "we"?

A Deloitte, Terry Hatherell, Yasser
Youssef.

Q. Okay. And, again, this was a
procedure that was agreed upon by CFS and CFSO in
the engagement letters?

A Yes, it wos.

Q. Did CFS or CFSO provide you any
by-law reference that related to this or supported
this procedure?

MR. BURKE: ~ What procedure are you
falking about?

MR. DEL GOBBO:  The sample of 100

students that we were just discussing

at the beginning of paragraph 29 of

Mr. Hatherell's affidavit,

THE DEPONENT: My recollecion is that

they did not...this was a procedure that we
determined would be an appropriate
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BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

184.

185.

Q.  Okay. Ifwe proceed to paragraph 27

of your affidavit. So, we have already chatted a
bit about the process of inputting the names into
Excel. | won't ask you about that, but in paragraph
28 you...and | am going to apologize for being an
admitted Luddite, and | might have fo ask you to
explain in layman's terms in a roomful of lawyers,
and | am sure not many of us understand exactly what
is meant by the Excel...the VLOOKUP functionality
that you are describing in paragraph 28. If you can
just explain in layman's terms what those data
analytics techniques are?

A. Sure. So, we received the file from
the university with the student records. We input
the peitions into Excel so that we had a complefe
list of pefitioners in Excel. Using a functionality
within Microsoft Excel, which is referred to as
VLOOKUP within Microsoft Excel...itis a simple
if/then statement that is written. So, if this is
found in this particular file, then this is o
result. So, it is a way fo compare two lists of
information to identify whether there are

consistencies or differences between the two lists.
Q.  Okay. Then in paragraph 29, you
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procedure to perform as part of the
validation activities.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

190.

191.

192.

Q. Okay. And | see from Exhibit L to
your affidavit that you prepared a draft e-mail that
would be sent to UTGSU members asking them to
confirm that they had participated in the pefition;
is that fair? And, in particular, | am looking at
the e-mail from Mr. Youssef to CFS and CFSO on March
5th, 2014. It starts ot the bottom of the first
page of Exhibit L. And on the next page Mr. Youssef
provides the text of this draft e-mail; is that
faire

A. Yes, that s fair.

Q. Sothen I see in the response from
Ms. Hunt of CFS on March 5th, 2014, and this is the
first e-mail in the exhibit at 1:54 p.m., that CFS
suggested alternate wording?

A VYes

Q.  So, | understand from this e-mail
and from your affidavit the plan was going to be
that this e-mail will be sent out to a sample of
100 students, UTGSU members, who had signed the
etitions, the CFS and CFSO pefitions; is that
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right?
A Correct.

193. Q. And then they would indicate by
pressing voting buttons in the e-mail, "Yes" or
"No'". "Yes, | did sign the pefition", "No, | did
not sign the petition"; is that fair?

A Yes, that is fair.

194, Q. And if there was no response to the
e-mail, | understand that the plan was going fo be
fo follow up by telephone to these students fo ask
them over the phone whether they had or had not
signed the petition; is that right?

A Yes, that is accurate.

195. Q. Okay. f someone were to have
clicked "No" o the e-mail, 'l did not sign the
petition”, but then Deloitte subsequently found that
their name was on the petition, would Deloitte have
then struck that name from the pefition?

MR. BURKE: ~ So, Mr. Del Gobbo, as |
understand it, this did not occur, so you
are falking about the hypothetical, that
this was not sent. This did not...this
aspect of the verification procedure did

not take place, so | am not sure of the

relevance of something that is
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THE DEPONENT:  That would be a fair
assumption.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:
198.

Q. Okay. Sorry, | am just trying to
understand this as well. So, if someone had not
responded to the e-mail and a telephone call was
made and they hadn't responded o the telephone
call, they weren't available, how would Deloitte
have treated that person?

A, Because we didn' get to that
procedure, we had not determined how we would treat
it. My belief is that we would have reported that
back as someone who did not confirm, and we were not
able to validate that they actually signed the
petition, and, as a result of that, would not likely
have been included in the percentage of valid
petitioners.

Q. Okay. And, sorry, | will ask you
one more question. If they had not responded to the
e-mail, a student, and Deloitte had contacted them
over the phone and a student had said that they
couldn't remember whether they signed the pefition,
how would Deloitte treat that person?

A, Once again, because we didn't
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hypothetical.
196. MR. DEL GOBBO:  Well, it is discussed ot
length in Mr. Hatherell's affidavit, and,
in particular, if you tum to paragraph 29
of his offidavit...
MR. BURKE:  VYes.
197. MR. DEL GOBBO:  ...near the end of the
paragraph he states that:
"...Performing this additional procedure
would not have impacted the outcome of the
20 percent threshold validation, because
the 20 percent threshold had already not
been achieved...
S0, you are making a statement as to how
performing this procedure would have
offected the validation of the petition,
and | simply don't understand how that
would have token place. And I think ifs a
fair question, that if someone had clicked
"No", was the intention going fo be that
then that name would have been struck from
the petition if it had been discovered that
the person had signed the pefition?
MR. BURKE: I think he can answer that
vesfion.
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undertake those procedures, | don't have, you know,
defined procedures in terms of what we would have
actually done in terms of how we would have treated
it. My view would be that if they were not able to
confirm, we would have considered alternate
procedures which may have been providing them with
only their name and signature for them to validate,
so that we could consider them a confirmed
petitioner. We would do whatever we could to fry to
confirm. f at the end of those procedures they
were still unsure as fo whether they signed it or
not, we would have reported that back, it would have
been included in our report.

Q. Okay. And as you said earlier, in
the case of someone that you couldn't confact by
phone and you couldn't confirm that they would be
included that they had signed the pefition, you
would have likely had made the determination that
they would have been...their signature would have
been struck from the pefition?
MR. BURKE: 1 1hink what he said was
that it would have been part of the report.
MR. DEL GOBBO:  That was with respect to
my last question about someone who couldn'
recall whether they had signed the
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petition. But in response fo my earlier
question where someone had not responded to
the e-mail and then not responded to the
felephone call...and we can read the
transcript back if you would like...but |
believe your answer was that their name
would not have been included in the
pefition.

THE DEPONENT:  Yes. We would have
included it in the report as we weren't

able fo confirm that they did sign the
petition, and we likely would have included
it in the reconciliation to get down to the
number of valid pefifioners. So, your
assertion is accurate in that it is likely

that we would not have included them in the
confirmed pefitioners.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:
202.

Q.  Okay. Thank you. So, again, if |
just return to your affidavit at paragraph 29, you
state:

"...Performing this additional procedure
would not have impacted the outcome of the
20 percent threshold validation because the
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] fo get info hypothetical scenarios. | have

2 let you go to the extent of understanding

3 how this would have worked. These are not

4 facts. They did not occur, so that is

5 refusal. R

6 205 MR. DEL GOBBO: | didn't ask a question.
7 MR. BURKE: | realize that, but | can

8 fell you it is going to be a refusal.

9 206 MR. DEL GOBBO: ~ Well, I will ask another
10 question and we will decide whether you

1 refuse that, | suppose.

12

13 BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

14 207. Q. So, you stated earlier that this is

15 a process by which...again, it didn't happen but

16 some names might have been struck from the petition.
17 This was a sample size of 100 students. Was it

18 discussed with CFS and CFSO that the amount of names
19 validated from that sample would be extrapolated to
20 the number of signatures on the pefitions?

21 MR. CARSTEN: | am not sure | understand
22 the question.

23

24 BY MR. DEL GOBBO:
208. Q.  So, you would agree with me that
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20 percent threshold had already not been

achieved...
Now, | understand that you say that in the context,
because, as a result of the process that you
undertook, you had defermined that there weren't
20 percent of members of the UTGSU that had signed
the CFS and CFSO pefitions; is that fair?

A Correct.

Q.  So, if the result had been that, as

a result of your review the amount of signatures in
the petition had been 20 percent of students plus
one, and as a result of this exercise that you
explained by which some students may have their name
struck from the petition, is it frue that it could
very well have been that performing this additional
procedure could have impacted the outcome of the
20 percent threshold validation?

A Yes, that is accurate.

Q. Okay. So, | would just like to

understand this a bit clearer. So, in this
hypothetical, you were just canvassing 100 sample
students. Say that, of those 100 sample students,
fen of them indicate...or you have confirmed that
fen of them did not sign the pefition...
MR. BURKE: Al right. We are not goin
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1 approximately 3,000 entries were on the CFS and CFSO
2 petitions? | believe it was actually a bit more

3 than that, about 3,100, 3,200. We can pull up the

4 reports to verify, but that is the approximate

5 number; is that fair?

6 A. My recollection is that i fair in

/ ferms of the approximate number.

8 209 Q. o, this pefition validation

9 exercise required contacting...or rather, it

10 considered contacting 100 students to defermine

1 whether they had signed the pefition. Based on the
12 number of those 100 that Deloitte had defermined did
13 not sign the pefition, would that number then have

14 been extrapoloted into the 3,000 that did sign the

15 petitions to determine how many did or not sign the
16 petition, and would that have been figured into your
17 ultimate report?

18 MR. BURKE:  So, the question is, did you

19 have discussions with CFS or CFSO around
20 that issue?
MR. DEL GOBBO:  Yes.

22 . MR. BURKE:  Is that your quesfion?
23 21. MR. DEL GOBBO:  Yes.
24 MR. BURKE:  You can answer that

uestion.
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THE DEPONENT: My recollection is that
we did not have that discussion with CFS
or CFSO.
MR. CARSTEN:  Sorry to interrupt, but
might this be a good fime to take a small

break?
MR. DEL GOBBO:

A BRIEF RECESS

TERRENCE HATHERELL, resumed
CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DEL GOBBO :
213. Q. Mr. Hatherell, | would like to take
you fo paragraph 30 of your affidavit now. So, here
you describe that on March 6th, you advised CFS and
CFSO of Deloitte's preliminary results, that based
on your preliminary findings, the pefitions did not
meet the 20 percent threshold; is that right?

A Yes.

Q. And then at paragraph 31 you sfate

that Mr. Youssef continued his review of the
petitions and he found approximately 70 entries
where the names were correct but the student numbers
were entered incorrectly; is that right?
A, Yes, that is accurate.

212. Sure.

214.
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there were not student numbers input, in some cases
it was one digit, in some cases it was two,
transposition, fruncated. There were a number of
different situations concerning the student numbers.

Q. Okay. So, at this point, when this
review was...when Mr. Youssef confinued his review,
you understood that the pefitions, both the CFS and
CFSO petitions, were quite close to the 20 percent
threshold; is that fair?

A Yes.

Q. Okay. And as | understand it from
Exhibit N, Mr. Youssef sought guidance from the CFS
and CFSO on how fo freat these entries; is that
faire

A Yes.
Q. And he wanted to provide CFS, if |
am reading the last sentence of the e-mail at
Exhibit N, which is the e-mail from Mr. Youssef,
March 7th, 2014:
"...Given how close the results are, we
wanted to provide [presumably CFS and CFSQ]
with as much information as possible fo
allow you to make informed decisions..."
That is correct?
A, Thatis corredt.
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215. Q. Now, were these 70 names spread
between the CFS and CFSO petitions, or were they
70 names on each petition?

A. My understanding is that most of

those names would have been on each of the national
and the Ontario petition, because there were a lot
of similarities between the federal and the Ontario
petifions.

Q. Okay. So, just for the purpose of

my understanding, in your assessment of the CFS
petition, there would have been approximately 70
names that fell info this category, and then on the
CFSO petition there would also have been 70 names on
that petition that fell in this category of
having...

A Yes.
217. Q. ...names correct but incorrect
numbers?

A Yes.

Q. Okay. Now, when you say the numbers
were entered incorrectly, does this mean that the
entries were blank, or there was a digit that was
missing, or digifs were fransposed?

A.  So, there were a variety of
situations. In some cases, my understanding is

216.
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Q. And are those informed decisions
about whether these 70 names on each petition be
ruled valid or invalid under the by-laws?

A, The informed decisions, ultimately
itis CFS and CFSO that are the ones that are
determining whether the petition is valid or not.
Then...so, informed decisions in this case, we
want to make sure that we are providing as much
information as possible to those two organizations
so that they can ultimately make a decision as fo
whether the petitions are valid.

Q. And specifically to make informed
decisions about whether these 70 signatures on each
petition would be ruled in compliance with the
by-law requirements?

A Yes. We were seeking inferpretive
guidance.
h Q. Okay. And you state in paragraph 32
that:
"..Based on discussion, Deloitte was
instructed fo apply its judgment in these
situations fo determine validiy..."
A Yes.

Q.  Did CFS and CFSO say what Deloitte's
judgment should be based on?
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A. No, they did not.
226. Q.  So, what did you understand
Deloitte's judgment o be based on?

A So, our inferprefation of that, we
applied our professional judgment as to whether we
believed the actual petitioner...whether that was
valid. So, we looked at the line in ifs entirety,
so we would look at the name and whether the name
matched the university records that were provided to
us by the University of Toronto.

We would look at the student number as to
how close was that student number to the records per
the university, and we also looked to see whether
there was a signature. And so, we applied our
professional judgment in looking at it as to whether
we thought that that name, that individual, that
petitioner was valid.

MR. DEL GOBBO: ~ Okay. | would like you

to pull up...do you have the affidavit of

Mr. Hashemi handy2 | will mark this as an
exhibit. This is the offidavit of Ashkan
Hashemi sworn in this proceeding on May
21st, 2014,
MR. BURKE: ~ What tab is it in your
application record?

22].
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invitation sent from Mr. Youssef to CFS and CFSO on
March 7th, 2014 at 2:30.

A Yes.

Q. And the descripfion of the

feleconference is:

"...To provide the feam with an update on

the status of the validation procedures..."
So, in your affidavit at paragraph 32 you discuss
Mr. Youssef contacting CFS and CFSO on March 7th,
the same date, to discuss instances where the
student names on the pefition were found within the
membership records provided by the University of
Toronto where the numbers did not agree. That is
what we were just speaking about. During this
call...did you participate in this call?

A. | don't believe that | did, no.

Q. So, do you know whether any issues,
apart from these 70 signatures, were discussed
during this call?

A, Idon' recall. |am not aware.

Q. So, if you look at the e-mail
immediately after this teleconference invitation, it
is sent by...this is now at the very bottom of the
third page of Exhibit D of Mr. Hashemi's affidavit.
This is an e-mail from Mr. Youssef to CFS and CFSO
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MR. CARSTEN: It in the responding
application record. Itistab 1.

- EXHIBITNO. 2 : Affidavit of Ashkan Hashemi,

sworn May 21, 2014
BY MR. DEL GOBBO:
228. Q. So, Mr. Hatherell, have you

reviewed Mr. Hashemi's offidavit before this
cross-examination?
A.  Ihave not.

Q. Could you tum to Exhibit D of his
offidavit, please, and page 4 of Exhibit D?

229.

MR. BURKE:  Page 42 So, page 21 in the
fop right-hand comer?
230. MR. DEL GOBBO:  Sorry, my version
isn'...| don't have that page number
version, but, yes.
MR. BURKE: It begins with "Attached" ot
the top?
231. MR. DEL GOBBO:  Just one moment, please.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:
232. Q. So, if you look at the middle of

this page 4, there appears to be a teleconference
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cc'ing you on March 7th, 2014 at 4:28 p.m. Do you
see that?

A Mhmm.
Q. So, Mr. Youssef says:
"...Attached please find the results of our
procedures fo date for your reference and
our discussion this afternoon..."
And then he says:
"...The attached includes a synopsis, as
well as the detailed results of our
validation procedures..."
Do you see that? So, if you turn two pages info the
affidavit, you will see that there is a document

there.
MR. BURKE:  So, two pages further in the
affidavit?
MR. DEL GOBBO:  Two pages further info

the offidavit, yes. Thank you.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

238.

239.

Q. You see at the top left how it reads
"Synopsis of findings"?

. Yes.

Q. So, is this the synopsis that
Mr. Youssef attached fo his e-mail that we were
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just looking ot of March 7th, 2014 ot 4:28 p.m.2
A. | don' know.

Q. Have you ever seen this document
before?

A Yes, | believe | have.

Q. Okay. Before we discuss that
document, could you give an undertaking to provide
the attachments to Mr. Youssef's e-mail of March
7th, 2014 ot 4:28 p.m.2 If this synopsis that we
are looking at now is in fact one of the
attachments, to confirm that; otherwise, fo provide
the attachments?

MR. BURKE:  Yes, we will give that
undertaking. So, you want the

aftachments...

MR. DEL GOBBO:  Yes. Just for the
record...
MR. BURKE:  ...to the March...what is
the date, the 4th?

MR. DEL GOBBO:  March 7th, 2014 at
4:28 p.m. The e-mail indicates that there
are two attachments. "The first is a
synopsis, the second are detailed results

of our validation procedures."

MR. BURKE:  Yes. Vil
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total number of students...that is the fotal number
of pefitioners on the two petitions.

Q. So, the aggregate number of students
who signed one of the pefitions, in other words?
A Correct. That is my understanding,

yes.
MR. BURKE: ~ When you say "one of the
petitions'...
MR. DEL GOBBO:  Either the CFS or the
CFSO petitions.
MR. BURKE:  Either one of the petitions.
MR. DEL GOBBO:  Yes. Thank you for

that.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

253.

254,

258.

Q. Ifyou look fo the far right column
comment, and there seem to be some comments in that
column, whose comments are those?

A, They appear to be Deloitte comments.

Q. And who at Deloitte?

A |am not certain whose comments
those are from Deloitte.

Q. Thatis fair. So, if we look at the
far left column under "Exceptions", do you see that?

A Ves.
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BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

244,

245.

246.

24].

248.

249.

Q. o, is it fair fo say that this
synopsis document represents a summary of Deloitte's
findings as of March 7th, 20142 Or | can use the
words "synopsis of Deloitte's findings', if that is
clearer.

A.  ltappears to be a draft synopsis of
our findings at that point in time.

Q.  Okay. And | see that this includes
results with respect fo the CFS petifion and the
CFSO petition; is that right?

A, Yes, that is what it appears fo be.

Q. So, look at the heading "National

pefition’, do you see that?
A Yes.

Q.  So, beneath that column are the CFS

results; is that right?
A Yes.

Q. And then beside that to the left

"Ontario pefition', those are the CFSO results?
A Yes.

Q. o, beside that | see "Total
petition records’. Can you explain what that column
means, what it signifies¢

A. My understanding is that is the
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Q. That fext seems fo correspond with
the bases...or that the criteria for determining an
entry...a signature on the pefition is in compliance
with the by-laws; is that fair?
A. Yes, that s fair.
Q. So, the first entry:
"...Duplicate student names...
Presumably that accounts for people who have signed
one of either the CFS or CFSO petition more than
once?
A Yes, that is correct.
Q. So, presumably, you wouldn't count
the duplicate entries?
A Correct.
Q. Okay. And then if we look ot the
comment, that states that:
"...Approximately 40 duplicates were
removed directly...
A, Yes, at that point in fime,
recognizing this is a draft document, as stated at
the top.
Q. Okay. Ifwe look at the next:
"...Does not include a unique signature...
The comment reads:
"...No signature noted...
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Do you see that?
A Yes.
Q. So, does that signify that there is
no marking on the signature line at all, or that
there was a marking but that the signature was not
unique?
A. My understanding is that that
signifies situations where there was no signature.
Q. Okay. The next one:

"...Does not include a unique student

number..."

And beside that it says:

"...One also had no signature..."

So, does that mean that, of the students that are
identified as not having provided a unique student
number, that one of them would also have been
included in the row above; in effect, that entry
would have been included twice?

A. That may be the case on the
basis...that is what it appears fo be in terms of
what is listed there. Not having created this
sheet, | can't say for certain as to whether that is
the case.

Q. Okay. The next exception reads:
"...Not reasonably legible..."

268.
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"Ed" versus "Edward", we would consider that to be a
valid peitioner.

Q. Okay. That would be the example of
a short form?

A. That would be an example of a short
form, and | believe | did include an example in the
affidavit s to that type of situation.

Q. Ido recall that.

A Yes.

Q. Butjustto go back, | am sorry,
Canadian variations of a foreign name. Edward is an
English name, to my knowledge.

. VYes.

Q. So, if there was a foreign name on
the University of Toronto student list but a
Canadian variation is provided on the pefifion...

A Yes.

Q. ...can you explain what this comment
means?

A Sure. So, if there was a Chinese
name, for example, and the name per the student
records was the full Chinese name, but on the
petition the sumame was there but the given name
was entirely different, we did not include that as a
valid petitioner. We would have no way fo determine
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And the comment reads:

"...ome judgment use here..."
So, | understand this to mean that Deloitte
exercised some judgment fo determine whether a name
was legible or not?

A, That s correct.

Q. Okay. Nextwe see:

"...Proper full name not used..."
under the "Exceptions’ column. Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q. o, this is used fo assess whether a
signature or a person who had signed the signature
used their proper full name, as the by-law requires®

A.  Thatis correct.
Q. And the comment reads:
"...Canadian variations of foreign names
and short forms..."
So, does this mean that you would consider a
signature fo be a proper full name if it was a
Canadian variation of a foreign name?

A. Can you expand on that question so
that | understand what it is you are asking?

Q. Sure. What do you interpret
"Canadian variations of foreign names' to mean?

A, VYes. So, in the case of, you know

273.
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whether that was valid.
Q. Okay. So, if we go fo the next row:

"...Invalid or incorrect student number...

And then the comment reads:

"...Student number on pefition does not

match student records...
Does this account for it being not identical, or
does this account for errors, like, say, one number
is missing or...

A. It could be errors, it could be not
identical. Again, we applied judgment. So, in some
of those cases, we consider them to be valid
pracitioners (sic); in other cases, we did not
consider it to be a valid practitioner (sic) in the
fullness of our professional judgment.

Q. Okay. And the next row:

"...Does not agree fo student records..."
| assume that means that the signatory does not
appear on the University of Toronto student records
that you were provided?

A. Thatis correct. So, there would be
student names, student numbers on the pefition that
we were not able fo find in the university records
provided to us by the U of T.

Q. Okay. And in this catego

...again
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this is the largest category, over 300 names that
were invalid on this basis...if a student name is
included in the pefition and that name also appears
in the records but the student number was incorrect,
would that have been included in this 300 names?

MR. BURKE:  Could you just repeat that
for me, please?
MR. DEL GOBBO:

Sure.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

271.

Q.  Ifaname on one of the pefitions
appears in the university student records but the
student number beside that name does not correspond
to the university student records, would it have
formed part of the 300 names ruled invalid on the
basis of this row or ling item?

A. So, my recollection is we would have
included that...that falls into the professional
judgment, as to how far it is off and how different
itis. We would not have double-counted it in this
list. We would have included it in one of those
rows. My recollection and my understanding is that
it would likely be in the row "Invalid/incorrect
student number", if the name was matched and the
student number was, you know, off by, say, a digit.

O OO NO~NOT BN —

284,

285.

286.

287.

T. Hatherell - 80
petition validation exercise. Do you agree? And if
you furn fo the...it is page 2 at the bottom right.
You will notice this is a summary table of your
results.

A Yes.
Q. Do you see where it reads:
"...Total number of names submitted..."
A Yes.
Q. Do you see that the number there is
3,1652
A Yes.
Q. Can you explain to me why the number
is different from this synopsis to this report?
A, 'am not sure exactly why there is a
difference, but that is why | indicated that that is
a draft version and this is the final version. So,
there was numerous quality control procedures that
were performed which could account for the
difference.
Q. Were the petifions reviewed a second
time between March 7th and March 11th, when these
reports were delivered to CFS?
A. I don't recall the exact date of the
review as fo whether that review...the additional
review was reviewed three times. But whether there
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Q. Okay. Ifyou look at the top, do
you see where it reads:
"...Total number of students..."
A. s this page 232
Q. This is looking again at the
synopsis document,
A, Synopsis. Okay.
Q. "...Total number of students...
And then, moving along, it indicates the Ontario
petition and the national pefition.
A Yes.
Q.  So, if we take the nafional
petition, you will see that it reads that there are
3,155 students...or rather, that Deloitte determined
that, as of March 7th, when the synopsis was
created, that 3,155 students had signed the national
petition; is that fair?
A.  There were 3,155 names on that
pefition.
Q. Sure. That s correct. Thank you
for that.
A Yes.
Q. So, could you turn to Exhibit O to
your affidavit for a moment? And this is the report
that was issued to CFS national in respect of this

288.
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was a review that happened between that point in
fime in ferms of the actual review of the
petitioners and peitions, | don't recall.

Q. Okay. But you will agree then that,
to account for this difference, you know, assuming
that it is not a typo, that there would have been
some sort of review...your position is that there
would have been some sort of additional review or
verification procedure that took place after March

7th when the synopsis was prepared?
A, That could be one of the reasons,

that could be...
MR. BURKE: 1 think the question was,
were there additional procedures carried
out?

THE DEPONENT:  With respect fo that, |
would need to confirm. | can't recall the
exact fiming of the work and the dates and
so forth.

MR. DEL GOBBO:  Could you give an
undertaking to confirm whether any
additional procedures were carried out
after March 7th, 2014, before the dates
that the reports were delivered o CFS and
CFSQ?
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MR. BURKE:  Between March 7th and
March...

MR. DEL GOBBO: | believe it is March
11th.
MR. BURKE:  Yes, we will undertake to do

that. Vi

MR. DEL GOBBO:  And just while we are
here, if you look again at the synopsis,
you will see that the total number of
students under the Ontario petition is
3,323. Ifyou tum to the CFSO report that
you delivered...it is behind Exhibit P to
your affidavit...you will nofice that the
total number of names, again on the summary
results chart, is 3,325.

So, perhaps just o work into the
undertaking that you already gave, just fo
determine whether that review encompassed a
review of the petition of both CFS and
CFSO?

MR. BURKE: ~ Yes.
MR. DEL GOBBO:  Thank you.

Vil

24 BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

293.

Q.  So, if we tun back to Exhibit D to
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that were entered incorrectly. Could you explain
what that enfailed?

A, So, that refers to where we applied
our professional judgment, and if, in our view, in
looking at the pefitioner in ifs entirety and
comparing it to the university student records,
if we...if it was only out by one digit or there
was a digit missing, that is the less strict
interpretation, if you will, where we are applying
our professional judgment. And so, in some of those
cases, we would have viewed them fo be valid
petitioners, as opposed fo invalid pefitioners.

Q. Understood. And then lastly, under

this "Less-strict interprefation":

"...Deloitte assumed all names were

reasonably legible, as long as we can make

something out and the student number was

correct...'
So, in this case, if you could make something out,
in that the name was reasonably legible but the
student number was one off, that signature would
have been invalidated?

A Would have been validated?

Q. Would have been invalidated.
A.  Meaning, it would not have been a
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Mr. Hashemi's offidavit, and page 2 at the bottom, |
am looking at an e-mail that Mr. Youssef sent to CFS
and CFSO on March 9th, 2014 ot 10:42 a.m., and this
is copying you. Now, Mr. Youssef is describing that
he reviewed the exceptions. And by "exceptions’, |
fake it that he means entries on the petitions that
had some issue with them that required your review?
A Yes.
Q. And that applying a less strict
interprefation of the by-laws, Mr. Youssef or
Deloitte was able to eliminate a large number of
these exceptions. And then he says:
"...Please see attached...
Can you given an undertaking fo provide what was
attached fo this e-mail¢ | don't believe it has
been included in any of the offidavit evidence.
MR. BURKE: | will take that under
advisement, U/A

20 BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

21 295.

23
24
25 296,

Q. And then he states that, under his
"Less-strict interpretation", any mark on the
petition was a reasonable signature. That is fair?
A Yes.
Q. And he updated the student numbers
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valid...
Q. VYes.
A, ...petitioner? | can' speak for
every situation. Again, we would look at it in its
entirety, so we would look at the name. Is the name
reasonably legible? How close is the student
number, and is there a signature there? And so, in
its entirety, we would look at it and assess whether
we believe in our professional view whether that is
a valid petitioner.
Q. Okay. Ifwe could just turn...we
are still ot Exhibit D to Mr. Hashemi's affidavit,
and if's the e-mail at the bottom of the first page.
Ifs the e-mail from Mr. Youssef on March 11th, 2014
at 2:08 p.m. Unfortunately, | can'tfell from the
printout that is attached here who it was sent to,
but | fake it from the context that it was sent to
CFS and CFSO. Can you confirm that?
A. I can' confirm it 100 percent.
That is what it appears o be, but | can't confirm
100 percent because | don't see the names that it
was sent fo as well.
Q. Sure. You will notice in the e-mail
right above March 11th, 2014 at 3:21, Mr. Hashemi of
CFSO is responding to Mr. Youssefs e-mail and
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cc'ing the same people we have been seeing:
Ms. Hunt, Mr. Salter of CFSO, and yourself.
So, you would agree with me that is a fair
assumption?

A, Yes, that is what it appears to be.

Q. Okay. So, this e-mail states that
itis attaching a draft report for CFSO, for CFSO's
review and comment. Do you see thate This is the
e-mail at 2:08 p.m.

A Okay. Yes.

Q. Now, if you tum to the seventh page
of the exhibit...sorry, | don't have your page
numbering, but you will see that there is what
appears to be a report issued from Deloitie fo CFSO,
and at the bottom left of the first page you will
see that it reads 'Draff'

A Yes.

Q. Is this the droft report that was
attached to Mr. Youssefs e-mail at 2:08 p.m. that
we were just looking at?

A. I would have no way of knowing for
certain in looking at this as to whether it is. It
would appear to be the case, but...

Q. Okay. But certainly we know that it
wos a draft report that was prepared in March around
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that they weren't members of UTGSU? Do you know
what accounts for the difference in the numbers?

A 1do not know.

Q. Okay. And similarly, if we go back
to the draft report attached to Mr. Hashemi's
offidavit, you will see the percentage of GSU
members af the bottom. This is the final conclusion
as to what percentage were ruled valid, and you will
see that it is 18.5 percent and 19.2 percent...to

19.2 percent, rather; ifs a range. And if you look
atthe final report that is attached to Exhibit P to
your affidavit, you will see that that same number
for the fotal percentage of Graduate Students' Union
members is 18.5 0 19.3 percent.
A Yes.
Q. So, | ake it that you don't know
what accounts for that difference either?
A. I dont. Likely quality control
that is undertaken as part of the issuance in the
final report, but | do not know why there is a
difference there.
Q. You say quality control, but |
believe that you mentioned earlier that...or rather,

you couldn' recall that there was a re-review of
the CFS and CFSO petitions between March 7th and

306.
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this period, before the final reports were sent on
March 11th; is that fair?

A.  That is what it appears fo be, yes.
Q. Okay. Now, it | could just turn
your attention fo...ifs the third page of the
report, number 2 in the bottom right. Do you see
that...
A Yes, | do.

Q. ...itis the summary result chart?
A Yes.
Q. fyou look under "Exceptions' to
the first row:

"...Not members of the Graduate Students'

Union based on information provided..."
You see the numbers that are included in the draft
report as corresponding fo that entry...

A Yes, | do.

Q. ..33010 3402 Now, if you could
furn fo the final CFSO report that you issued on
March 11th, 2014, That is at Exhibit P to your
affidavit. Now, if you look at that same entry in

the summary results chart, do you see that you have
indicated 320 o 340 students...
A ldo.

Q. ...were invalidated on that basis
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March 11th. Can | have an undertaking to that?

MR. BURKE: 1 think what he said was

that there were quality assurance processes

undertaken. He just couldn't remember

specifically what dates, and then...

MR. DEL GOBBO:  Yes.

MR. BURKE:  ...we had undertaken to

advise as between the 7th of March and the

17th of March s to what additional QA

processes were undertaken. Is that fair,

Mr. Hotherell2

THE DEPONENT:  That is fair. We have a

number of quality control procedures that

we would undertake between the point in

fime when you issue a draft report and when

you issue a final report, which includes

looking for typos and things like that.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:
315.

Q. Thatis fair. Thank you. So, we
have been looking at the final reports. You state
at paragraph 33 of your offidavit that these reports
were issued to CFS and CFSO on March 11th; is that

correct?
A Yes.
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Q. Hwetumtotab O of your
offidavit, and this is the CFS national final
report, and we flip back to that summary results
page, | see that you provided what you call the
strict and liberal inferprefation of the by-laws
with respect fo each of the criteria, if | could
call them that, for evaluating a name on the
petition.

A Yes.

Q.  Did CFS and CFSO assist you in
coming up with the sfrict and liberal
interpretations of the by-law?

A. My recollection is no. We were
advised o use our professional judgment. And so,
this was ultimately our inferprefation of the
by-laws as they were provided to us.

Q. Okay. So, if we look at the first
exception:

"...Not members of the Graduate Students'

Union based on information provided...
And again, the number is 320 fo 340.

A Yes.

Q. So, that requirement, the by-law
requirement is speaking to whether the name on the
efition was the name of a student who was currentl
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than one of these rows?
A. No. Itwill appear in only one of
the rows. In terms of the range of 320 to 340, | am
not exactly sure what would account for that range.
| would need to understand further...dig into
further to understand why there would be a range of
the 320 to 340 in that particular row.
Q. So, you would agree with me that...
at least fo me, and correct me it | am wrong, that
it seems like a relatively straightforward exercise
to determine whether a name does or does not appear
on the university student ists.
A. It may, until you actually look at
the...you are dealing with the two...the petition
and the actual student records. My response to
that...
Q. Specifically...
MR. BURKE: ~ Sorry, let the witness
finish...
MR. DEL GOBBO: | am sorry.
MR. BURKE:  So, finish your answer.
THE DEPONENT:  Yes. It may appear fo be
a simple exercise in terms of determining
whether someone is on or isn't on. | would
need to undertake fo understand in this
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a member of the UTGSU; is that fair?
A Yes.

Q. How do you interpret that by-law

leniently?

A. So, it could be...my recollection
would be it could be back to what | was mentioning
earlier, whether there is any markings of that
individual or a student number that is close in the
student records, a name that is close in the student
records, where we are trying fo assess whether that
name on the petition is actually somebody who is in
the student records. So, we are applying our
judgment and trying fo give the benefit of the doubt
in cerfain cases as fo whether that is reasonably
the same person.

Q. Sorry, | am confused. Earlier, |
believe, when | asked you about whether a name was
correct, say, but a number was one off, that would
have been included under "Not having a valid student
number".

A Yes.

Q. So, are you saying, if there was
some uncerfainty based on the information provided,
based on whether there was a student number or the
name provided, that that entry could appear in more
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particular row what is meant by "320 to
340" in terms of the range.

MR. DEL GOBBO:  Could you give an
undertaking to explain what is the liberal
interpretation of that by-law requirement
and the strict inferpretation of that
by-law requirement?

MR. BURKE: ~ We will give an undertaking
fo explain the range and the reasons for
the range. U

MR. DEL GOBBO: ~ Well, that is helpful.

| only say so because if you look at the
summary results it states:

"...Our range of results provides for both
a sfrict and liberal interpretation of the
by-laws...

MR. BURKE:  Right. | am assuming that
the undertaking that | have given will be
responsive in that regard,

MR. DEL GOBBO: ~ Okay. Could | ask for
the broader undertaking to explain what
accounts for the range for all of the
criteria listed under "Exceptions' in the
CFS and CFSO reports?

MR. BURKE:  Yes, we will give you that
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undertaking. um
MR. DEL GOBBO:  Thank you.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

330.

332.

Q. fwe could just tun fo Exhibit Q
of your affidavit for a moment. And we are almost
finished, | promise, so you can make your afternoon
meeting.

A. Thatis good.
Q. So, if you tum to the second page
of this exhibit, at the bottom there appears fo be
an e-mail from Ms. Hunt of CFS to Mr. Youssef on
April 2nd, 2014. And she states that:
"...It has been brought to CFS's attention
that there is a discrepancy between the
number of signatures that your office
verified on the national petition and the
number of signatures that was reviewed by
the registrar's office, possibly due to
human error during the photocopying
process..."

ls that fair?
A, Yes, that is what it says.

Q.  So, do | take it from this e-mail
that you understood that certain signature pages
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Mr. Youssef indicating that he conducted a secondary
review?
A I dont recall.
337. Q. Iwill just put it o you, if you
look at the e-mail of April 7th, this is the first
page of Exhibit Q. s an e-mail from Mr. Youssef
fo Ms. Hunt, ccing you, of April 7th, 2014 ot
11:30 a.m. Ifyou look at the first paragraph, the
last sentence states:
"..As discussed, this will result in an
additional $2,000 in fees..."
Now, | am just...you can look back at the April 2nd
e-mail, which is the other e-mail you have attached,
but | don't see any reference to $2,000 in fees in

that e-mail.
MR. BURKE: ~ From Ms. Hunt?
338. MR. DEL GOBBO:  From Ms. Hunt, yes.
MR. BURKE: | doubt if she would be

volunteering fo pay $2,000 in fees.

339. MR. DEL GOBBO:  Of course. So, what |
am getting at is that | assume there was
communication regarding af least fees
between April 2nd and April 7th.

MR. BURKE: ~ Well, I think you are seeing
it, are you not? They are saying, "We will
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that should have been sent to Deloitte originally
were not due fo some error?

A, Yes. We did not have all of the
pages. We did not include all of the pages that
existed in the inifial work as it relates to CFS.

Q. And subsequently, Ms. Hunt sent
you...did she send you the entire petition,
including the missing pages, or did she send you
just the pages that had been missing from the first
document that you received?

A, She sent us the entire pefition, the
original...the entire original pefition.

Q.  Okay. And I take it that Deloitte
undertook a secondary review, as | had called it, of
that original pefition that was sent by Ms. Hunt
after April 2nd, 20142

A Yes, we did.

Q.  Did Deloitte review only the pages

" that CFS indicated had been missing, or did they

review the entire petition over again?
A, We reviewed the entire pefition.
Q. It must have been fun. Were there
further communications between CFS and Deloitte
between April 2nd, this e-mail that you have
attached, and April 7th, which is the e-mail from
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do this additional work, but it is going to
cost you another $2,000."
340. MR. DEL GOBBO:  So, | suppose | can get
at it...just fo give an undertaking to see
it there is any correspondence between
Deloitte and CFS between the two e-mails
that you have attached at Exhibit Q to your
affidavit,
MR. BURKE: ~ Between April 2nd...
341. MR. DEL GOBBO:  April 2nd and April 7th
in respect of this secondary review of the
CFS pefition.
MR. BURKE: | am going o take that
under advisement, because | am concemed
how much effort that might be on the part
of Deloifte to try to find those, but |
will take it under advisement. U/A

342. MR. DEL GOBBO:  Okay.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:
343, Q.  Did CFS execute a separate
engagement letter for the secondary review?
A No, they did not.

344, Q. So, if you look again at the e-mail
of April 7th of Mr. Youssef, the first paragraph, he
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sfates:
"...We did not use the CFSO petition as the
basis for a validation procedure, as
outlined in our original engagement
letter...
And | ake it from your earlier response that, by
this, because you weren' reviewing the CFSO
petition again, there wasn't any exercise of
comparing whether a signature was on the CFSO...or
in the CFS petifion...or just looking at the CFS
petition; is that fair?
A, Specifically as it relates to here,
we were looking at the new information and redoing
based on the full petition that was provided. In
ferms of whether we did a cross-reference back to
the other petition, | would need to check into that.
Q. Could you give an undertaking to do
that?
MR. BURKE:  Just restate your question.
MR. DEL GOBBO:  To see whether, as part
of this secondary review, there was...
whether the CFSO petition was used in any
way as the basis for the validation
procedure.
MR. BURKE: Vil

Yes, we can advise.
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"liberal mean, what does "strict' mean, | mean
that would go into our professional judgment in
defermining, ultimately, what ones we believe are
valid. So, that knowledge would be taken info
consideration as we apply our professional judgment.
So, | wouldn' say if's a separate set of standards,
but it is our best effort, based on the information
we were provided, to provide our view as to whether
we believe they are valid pefitioners or not.

Q. Okay. And you will agree with me
that, as a result of this process, with respect fo
some of the categories, or the exceptions, rather,
as you have put them, the number of signatures that
you have deemed to be invalid has actually decreased
from the CFS report?

A, Yes, that appears to be the case.

Q. And those would have decreased
because, as you said, you conducted a review of the
entire pefition; you evaluated all of the names on
the pefition again and assessed whether they were in
compliance with the by-law requirements as provided
here?

A. We reviewed them once again and
applied our best professional judgment as fo whether
we believed they were valid pefitioners or not.
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BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

341

348.

349.

Q. Sothen I see that Mr. Youssef
attaches a table to this e-mail, and this is af the
fop of the second page of the exhibit. And | won'
fake you back to the original report, but the total
number of names now in this chart is higher than as
was in the original CFS report, and now it is 3,384.

A Yes.

Q. So, that presumably accounts for the
names that were missing during the first review.
Now, these new numbers that | have seen here, do
these represent a strict or a liberal interpretation
of the CFS by-laws?

A.  These represent our best
professional judgment in terms of the individuals
that we don't believe, based on our work, are valid
petifioners.

Q. Andyou didn' use the same
principles as you did with the final reports of a
strict inferpretation of the by-law and a lenient
interpretation of the by-law; this is another
standard that is your professional judgment as of
this date?

A, Those...the information and the
knowledge that we had in terms of what does
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Q. So, in respect of some of the...
perhaps | will fake you to the specific example. If
you look at the CFS national report, and this is
behind Exhibit O to your affidavit...

A Okay.

Q. ...and if you look ot the summary
chart, it you look under the heading...the fifth
bullet:

"...Did not include a valid student
identification number..."
And you provided a range of 25 to 55 names that were
disqualified on that basis?
A Yes.

Q. Asaresult of your re-review in
April 2014 that we were just looking at behind
Exhibit Q, you will note the number of signatures
that were invalidated on that basis is fen, so the
number decreased?

A, Thats right.

Q. So, when you conducted your review
of the petifion a second fime, did you discover that
some of those names that had been disqualified the
first time had been disqualified in error?

A.  Inour re-review, we believe that
there were only fen, based on our best professional
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judgment, that should be excluded as valid
pefitioners. | can't represent to you at this time
in terms of why that is, but ten is the view that we
had in ferms of the ones that should be excluded.

Q. Okay. Since you conducted the
secondary review in April, has Deloitte conducted
any additional review of the CFS petition?

A. My recollection is | don't believe
that we have performed any additional procedures.

Q.  And thatis in respect of the CFS

petition or the CFSO pefition?
A, That s correct.

Q. So, you conducted no checks to see
whether the CFS pefition could have been missing
pages, the original version that you received?

A. Iwould need o check into that as
to whether we did that as part of the process once
we received the additional pages.

Q.  Okay. So, | will ask for an
undertaking but | will word it slightly differently.
Your counsel...or CFS's counsel can provide this to
you, but attached to Ms. Ingle's affidavit in this
proceeding, there are copies of the original
pefitions that were delivered to CFS and CFSO in the
fall term of 2013. Can you give an undertaking to
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advisement presently, and you can get back
fo me as to whether or not your client is
prepared to pay for it U/A

MR. DEL GOBBO: ~ Okay. And is your
position that your client...won't be in

position fo...
MR. BURKE:  That is why | have taken it
under advisement.

MR. DEL GOBBO:

Sure.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

364.

365.

366.

Q. Very nearly done. If you tum fo
paragraph 40 of your affidavit, Mr. Hatherell, here
you state that Deloitie performed a manual review of
the signatures, and in fact did so three fimes; is
that correct?

A Yes.

Q. Could you tum to Mr. Hashemi's
affidavit for @ moment, at paragraph 54, and
specifically subparagraph ()2

. Okay.

Q. So, Mr. Youssef is describing...
sorry, | should have...you could read the whole
paragraph o make sure that you are clear as to what
it says. But Mr. Hashemi...this paragraph is
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confirm that the pefitions that formed the basis of
what is now Deloitte’s final review of the CFS and
CFSO petitions are in fact the same petitions that
are attached to Ms. Ingle's offidavit, and that no
pages are missing?

MR. BURKE:  Just let me tum it up.
Where is in the application?

MR. DEL GOBBO:  Ifs behind fab...ifs
Exhibit Q to Ms. Ingle's affidavit, is the
CFSO petition, and Exhibit R o her
offidavit is the CFS pefition.
MR. BURKE:  So, you want them fo go
through now...well, are you prepared to do
it at your cost?

MR. DEL GOBBO:  If that is the position
that you are taking...| haven't
instructions on that point, but the
undertaking that | am asking for is that
this review be conducted. | think if's
appropriate, given that it is already on
the record that some pages were missing
during their inifial review, and that there
has been no subsequent review of the CFSO
petition.

MR. BURKE: | will take it under
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describing that Mr. Youssef...Mr. Hashemi
participated in a teleconference with Mr. Youssef
on March 7th, 2014, with a representative from CFS
present. And Mr. Youssef told him that Deloitte had
friple-checked the pefition. Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q. I would just like to confirm that
Deloitte triple-checked the signatures on the
petition that did not match the membership ist
provided by the university; is that correct?

A.  Deloitte friple-checked the entire
petition.

Q.  Okay. So, Mr. Hashemis statement

is not accurate?
MR. BURKE:  In what way are you
suggesting that Mr. Hashemi's statement is
not accurate? | don't understand.

MR. DEL GOBBO:  He sfates that:
"...Deloitte had friple-checked the
information..."

Meaning that Mr. Youssef himself manually
checked three times each of the signatures
that did not match the membership list
provided by the university.
MR. BURKE: | would take it that those
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names would be inclusive as part of the
entire list, but | will let the witness
answer.

THE DEPONENT:  Those names would be
inclusive of the enfire list. So, those

names would have been triple-checked...the
entire petition would have been

triple-checked.
BY MR. DEL GOBBO:
370. Q. lamsorry, | am confused. Mr.

Youssef is talking about signatures that did not
match the membership list. Am lincorrect in
thinking that he is referring o what you called
excepfions, or names with which there was some
issue, presumably because there was a digit missing
in the student number or...

A. 1 am not sure exactly what
Mr. Hashemi is referring o there.

MR. BURKE:  You can ask Mr. Hashemi
tomorrow.

BY MR. DEL GOBBO:

371. Q. Butyour statement is that you

triple-checked all the signatures on each of the
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MR. BURKE:  Mr. Monkhouse, just a

question.
376. MR. MONKHOUSE:  Sure.

MR. BURKE: | understand we have not yet

amended the application formally, correct?
377. MR. MONKHOUSE:  That is correct, as far

as | know.

MR. BURKE: ~ We are waiting for my

position on that issue. So, | just wanted

to, for the record, that that is the state

of the proceeding as it presently stands,

but we are going to permit you fo ask your

questions.

378. MR. MONKHOUSE:  Thank you. | appreciate
that.

BY MR. MONKHOUSE:

379. Q. Now, the list you compared, |

believe you got what | would consider a data dump,
but a list of information, students from the
University of Toronto that was conveyed to you?

A Wedid. We received a CD-ROM from
the University of Toronto with the student records
that we used as the source to compare to.

380. Q. Did you have any information or were
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petitions threg fimes?
A Correct.
372. MR. DEL GOBBO: ~ Okay. |think that
those are all my questions. | would just
like to take a few minutes to check that |
have asked everything.
MR. BURKE: Do you want to take o
five-minute break?

373. MR. DEL GOBBO: ~ Sure.
A BRIEF RECESS

TERRENCE HATHERELL, resumed
CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DEL GOBBO :
374. MR. DEL GOBBO:  Mr. Hatherell, that is

all my questions. | would like to thank

you for coming in today.
THE DEPONENT:  Thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MONKHOUSE:

375. Q. Hello. So, my name is Andrew
Monkhouse, representing Ashleigh Ingle. So, | have
a couple of questions for you as well, and then

hopefully we can wrap this up and lef you get going.
A, That is good.
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ycf>u informed as fo what date that was collected as
of?

A, No, | don't believe so. | would
need to check fo be certain,
381. Q. Can | get an undertaking to check
for it there is any information about what date that
information was valid on?

MR. BURKE: | will take that under
advisement. U/A
BY MR. MONKHOUSE:
382. Q. Now, | wantto falk a bit about the
VLOOKUP procedure that you used to compare the
different names.

MR. BURKE:  Mr. Monkhouse, just let me
ask a question of you, because there is
nothing raised in the application record in
relation fo the list that was provided by
the University of Toronto. Is there any
issue from your perspective with respect to
that matter?
383. MR. MONKHOUSE:  From our perspective, we
would like o know what date it .
Obviously people drop off, there is
different registration numbers.
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Effectively, it is going fo be a snapshot
of a particular day, or it is likely a
snapshot of a particular day as o when
people registered. Considering that the
petifion was circulated in September, and
this data came in February, | think if's
important to know...are the people in
September being compared against the people
in February. So, | think that is going to
be an important issue.
MR. CARSTEN:  How can it be an issue if
it is not raised in your application
record?
MR. BURKE:  Right.

MR. MONKHOUSE:
application record.
MR. CARSTEN: ~ Well, the proposed
amendment | don't believe raises it as an
issue.
MR. BURKE:  If you are telling me,
Mr. Monkhouse, now that you are going to
raise different issues that have been
raised by Mr. Del Gobbo, we are going to
stop this examination, because | am not
oing to permit an examination on an

Well, we don't have an
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already. Part of our arguments are...or
two of our arguments are that the CFS
didn' exercise their discretion
reasonably, and we would say that if they
chose fo use a list of students from a
different semester, that would be an
unreasonable...that would be part of that.

Also, we argue that their by-laws

are void as o uncerfainty, and their
by-laws and the application of the by-laws
involved using an incorrect student list,
that that would be part of it being
uncertain. So, | mean, | think these are
reasonable questions o ask, given the
pleadings as amended include reasonable
uncertainty.
MR. BURKE:  No. | mean, the fact that
the list has no... mean, this is the list
that was provided by the university. You
are going fo have fo specifically plead
that to allow questions on that and for us
fo respond fo that. That is not included
in anything in this application.
MR. MONKHOUSE:  Again, as | said, it
oes o the underlying reasonableness of
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application record that is not fully
articuloed.

MR. CARSTEN:  And to be clear, if | can
say one more thing, the proposal to add
Ms. Ingle as a co-applicant includes some
revisions o the actual application record
itself, none of which have to do with what
you are dealing with now. So, | have
provided my consent fo that proposed
amendment but on that basis, not fo just be
able to add any issues in the application
record. So, | would like some
clarification on this as well.

MR. MONKHOUSE: ~ Certainly. Would | be
able fo just ask for five minutes to speak

with my co-counsel on that?
MR. CARSTEN:  Thank you.

A BRIEF RECESS

TERRENCE HATHERELL, resumed
CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. MONKHOUSE :
386.

MR. MONKHOUSE:  So, with regard fo that,
| would say that it is our position that
this is actually included in the record
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the analysis and the reasonableness of the
CFS's decision to reject the petition, and
that is the underlying question here. Even
Deloitte said this is neither...certified
or not...they advised CFS. CFS is the one
that makes the decision. The question is,
did they do so reasonably based on the
information they had, and tha...

MR. BURKE:  This is the first time we
have heard any issue about the list being
provided to the university. s that your
position oo, Mr. Del Gobbo?
MR. DEL GOBBO: My client's
understanding, although | am not sure about
this, we aren' positive as to whether the
lists are contemporaneous with the fime
that the signatures were placed in the
petitions, whether they represent the exact
same pool of students. | think that it is
an important question.

You know, | think that whether or
not the...the records that were referred
fo by the university...by Deloitte in
conducting their review were
confemporaneous, but...the moment that the
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petitions were actually created | think is
relevant fo that assessment.

MR. CARSTEN:  Can | take you
please...amendment...CFS and CFSO are
responsible...referendum. On page
10...just go to page 10 of your application
record. You talk in paragraph (ll):
"...While CFSO and CFS have the sole
authority fo determine that the petitions
are in order, that authority must be
exercised in a reasonable manner. CFS and
CFSO do not exercise authority reasonably,
and in particular..."
Not "and without limitation", just "in
particular', then you listed four things.
MR. BURKE:  Where does it say that the
list was wrong?

MR. MONKHOUSE: | don't think that
having a list of particulars...
MR. CARSTEN:  Yes, it does.
(”)MR. MONKHOUSE: s the generality of
MR. CARSTEN:  No, | don't think so, at
least...| mean, again, sorry, not my client
here at this point.

1
2
3
4
5
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/
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was a matching name?

A No. The student numbers that were
input into our Excel file on the basis of the
petitions, the student number there was compared
against the student number per the university
records o try to determine a match. We did the
VLOOKUP on the basis of the student number, and
not the name.

Q.  Okay. So, you have a list of
student numbers, you then look up and compare that,
see if those people exist within the university
system; that is correct?

A, Yes. | would need to check as to
which way the VLOOKUP was going, whether it is going
from the university records to the petition, or the
petition fo the...but it is cross-referencing the
two, the student records with the petition.

Q.  Okay. So, once you have that,

effectively you could, | guess, have a list of
student numbers, you then have a list of student
names as per the university, and then you have a
list of names as written? | am just looking...how
is the comparison done between the names provided
from the university and the names that were written
down? Were they, like, compared side-by-side after

390.
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MR. BURKE: ~ Well, I am going to refuse
those questions, and if you are going to
amend your...you know, amend it again, then
that is your prerogative to fry fo get
added, but, ot the moment, it is not
articuloted. R

MR. MONKHOUSE:  So, just to confirm, you

are refusing questions reloting to the date
of the student information provided?
MR. BURKE:  And anything else that is
not arficulated in your Notice of
Application. R

BY MR. MONKHOUSE:

391

392,

Q. Okay. So, with regard to the
VLOOKUP system utilized, which | believe is an Excel
function, we spoke about it earlier, would you agree
with me that this results in a binary decision,
either the names match or the names don't match?

A. It results in a binary match or
non-match, and the VLOOKUP was performed on the
basis of the student number.

Q. So, when you say "performed on the
basis of the student number’, that means that they
fook the student numbers and looked fo find if there

395.
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doing the VLOOKUP, or was it through some other
method?

A Yes. So, the comparison of the

names was a very manual exercise in trying to
defermine whether the name was a match. The first
search that was performed was the VLOOKUP using the
student numbers.

Q. Soif I get this right, so you have
the VLOOKUP, which then presumably would generate
the name beside it. Then you end up with student
numbers with the university's entering of the
person's name beside that in the system, which then
could be compared to another name that was written?

A, Iwould need to check fo...on the

output, but the VLOOKUP...the results of the VLOOKUP
would say either true or false, that there is a
match on the basis of the student numbers. We would
then proceed to do the manual procedures fo
investigate it further if there wasn't @ match. If
there was a match, then we would then move forward
and compare the other attributes around name, and
look for a signature, and so forth. If there
wasn', on the basis of the student number search,
we would then proceed with our manual review.

Q. Okay. And so, because it is a
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binary system, if a student number was mistyped,
that would most likely result in a negative finding?
A. Prior to applying a professional
judgment, and that is where we get into the
professional judgment that | mentioned earlier,
where we would...if there was just one digit that
was missing or it was off by, you know, one, then we
may have included that as a valid pefitioner based
on our further review.
Q. Okay. And with regard to the number
of petitions, | doubt you will have this information
in your report off the top of your head, but | was
hoping that you would be able to undertake to
provide us with the number of pages that there were
in each of the petitions.
MR. BURKE:  The number of pages?
MR. MONKHOUSE:  The number of pages.
MR. BURKE:  You say "in each of the
petitions', you mean the CFS and the CFSO?
MR. MONKHOUSE:  The CFS and CFSO
petitions. And as a second part to that, |
was hoping that you would be able to
undertake to provide the number of blank
pages. It is my understanding, having
copied them, that there were a number of
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petitions of this nature?
A. No, we have not.
403. Q. Specifically, were you hired to
certify the pefition of Capilano University Student
Association?
MR. BURKE:  He has told you they had not
been hired. You just got your answer.

BY MR. MONKHOUSE:

404. Q. Now, | understand that the Canadian
Federation of Students chose to have these
petitions...some of the work done outside of Canada;

is that correct?
MR. BURKE:  Pardon?

BY MR. MONKHOUSE:
405. Q.  That some of the work was done
outside of Canada; is that correct?
MR. BURKE:  Did you say that the CFS had

chosen to do that?

BY MR. MONKHOUSE:
406.

Q. Sorry, | believe some of the work
was done outside of Canada; is that correct?
A We provided options in terms of how
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p((:iges that were blank often on the back
side.

MR. BURKE: | will take that under
advisement. U/A

BY MR. MONKHOUSE:

400.

401.

402.

Q. Now, in a review of this nature, is
it common fo provide a margin of error to the
numbers, the final numbers?

A. Itwould not be unusual fo provide a
range, as we did in the report, because of the
application of professional judgment, and the fact
that we needed to apply that judgment in our report.

Q. And so, in this report you provided
it at one point as a range, but was there a
particular percentage of margin of error that you
came up with overall for the CFS and CFSO reports?

A. No, there was not a separate margin
of error that was factored in. That margin of error
relates fo the professional judgment that we apply
and is therefore included in the range, is inherent
in the range, and that the margin of error relates
fo professional judgment,

Q. Now, have you been hired by the CFS
or the CFSO 1o certify or fo examine any other
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fo resource the work. One of the options was fo use
resources that reside outside of Canada, and that
was the approach that we took to undertake, and that
was based on consultation with the Federation,
because of the impact on fees.

407. Q. Who specifically did you consult

with? And when you say "the Federation”, can you be
specific with regard to the Canadian Federation of
Students and the Canadian Federation of Students -
Ontario?

A. I would need to check specifically
in terms of who was involved. | can't recall.

408. Q. Would I be able to get an

undertaking fo provide the specific persons that you
consulted with about that matter?

MR. BURKE:  How is that relevant,

Mr. Monkhouse? | am just trying to

understand the relevance of your questions.

409. MR. MONKHOUSE:  One second. In terms of
the relevance, | think it goes back to the
reasonableness question in terms of the
work that was performed. Obviously, there

is a difference in terms of the work

standards, pay and that sort of thing, and

some further questions | am going fo have
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] with regard fo persons within or outside of

2 Canada. | think if's a fair question with INDEX OF EXHIBITST. Haherel - 124
3 regard fo the reasonableness of being able

4 fo take info account the margin of error EXHIBIT PAGE

5 for this report. NUMBER DESCRIPTION NUMBER
6 MR. BURKE:  How is that relevant when 1 Afidavit of Terrence Hatherell

7 the work was rechecked and manually redone sworn May 26, 2014 4
8 in Canada? 2 Affidavit of Ashkan Hashemi,

9 0. MR. MONKHOUSE: ~ Well, I think it swom May 21, 2014 67
10 obviously is relevant, because, in order

1 for that to be the case that it isn't

12 relevant, then all work that is done

13 outside the country would have been

14 irrelevant. So, just because it was

15 double-checked in Canada doesn't remove the

16 issues with margin of error and accuracy

17 that might come from having workers outside

18 of Canada taking part in...as part of the

19 process.

20 MR. BURKE:  Ifs a refusal on the

21 question as to who instructed. That was

22 your question? R

23 411, MR. MONKHOUSE:  That was my question.

25 BY MR. MONKHOUSE:
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; 412. . Q. What country was the work outsourced T Hotherell- 125
3 A Indi. INDEX OF UNDERTAKINGS

4 413 Q. Do they work directly for Deloitte, REFERENCE PAGE QUESTION
5 or was it for a subcontractor in India? NUMBER NUMBER NUMBER
6 A, They work directly for Deloitte. ] 2] 79

7 414, Q.  Does Deloitte have a fair wage 2 23 87

8 policy for workers that it employs overseas? 3 50 183

9 MR. BURKE:  This is not...its a 4 70 243

10 refusal. | mean, this is an inquiry about 5 82 290

11 this particular pefition. This is not an 6 8 291

12 inquiry about Deloitte and its internal 7 9 2%

13 organizational structure or pay mechanisms, 8 04 28

14 so that is a refusal. R

15 9 98 346

16 BY MR. MONKHOUSE:

17 415, Q. Do you have information on what the

18 workers on this pefition were paid?

19 MR. BURKE:  Ifsirrelevant. Refusal. /R

20 416 MR. MONKHOUSE: ~ Well, | think that it is

21 relevant. We are...

22 MR. BURKE:  You have my position,

23 Mr. Monkhouse.

24 417, MR. MONKHOUSE:  Those are all my
25 vestions, so thank you very much for that.
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